California Board of

1625 North Market Blvd., Suite N-215, Sacramento, CA 95834
T (916) 574-7720 F (916) 574-8672 Toll-Free (866) 503-3221
| www.psychology.ca.gov

1 MINUTES OF LEGISLATIVE & REGULATORY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE MEETING
2 APRIL 11, 2025
3
4  Primary Location (Staff):
5 Department of Consumer Affairs
6 1625 N. Market Blvd., El Dorado Room
7  Sacramento, CA 95834
8
9 Committee Members
10  Sheryll Casuga, PsyD, CMPC, Chairperson (remote)
11  Marisela Cervantes, EdD, MPA (remote)
12 Shacunda Rodgers, PhD (remote)
13
14 Committee Members Absent
15 None
16
17 Board Staff
18 Jonathan Burke, Executive Officer
19  Stephanie Cheung, Licensing Manager
20  Cynthia Whitney, Central Services Manager
21  Sandra Monterrubio, Enforcement Program Manager
22 Jacklyn Mancilla, Legislative and Regulatory Affairs Analyst
23 Troy Polk, Continuing Professional Development (CPD) Coordinator
24 Anthony Pane, Board Counsel
25 Sam Singh, Regulatory Counsel
26
Friday, April 11, 2025
27
28 Agenda Item #1: Call to Order/Roll Call/Establishment of a Quorum
29
30 Dr. Casuga called the meeting to order at 10:00 am. A quorum was present and due
31 notice had been sent to all interested parties.
32
33 Agenda Iltem #2: Chairperson’s Welcome and Opening Remarks
34
35 Dr. Casuga commented on the honor of being the new Chairperson of the Committee,
36 and welcomed the newest Committee Member, Dr. Shacunda Rodgers, to the
37 Committee. She acknowledged the years of service Dr. Cervantes provided in her role
38 as Chairperson, as well.
39
40 Agenda Item #3: Public Comment for Iltems Not on the Agenda. Note: The Board
41 May Not Discuss or Take Action on Any Matter Raised During this Public
42 Comment Section, Except to Decide Whether to Place the Matter on the Agenda
43  of a Future Meeting [Government Code sections 11125 and 11125.7(a)].

44




45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89

Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

Dr. Trisha Wallis requested that the Committee recommend that the Board take a
support position on AB 82, to extend protections to licensees who provide gender-
affirming care.

Agenda Item #4: Review and Possible Approval of the Committee Meeting
Minutes: June 14, 2024

Dr. Casuga introduced this item, starting on page nine of the meeting materials.

It was (M)Cervantes(S)Rodgers(C) to adopt the Committee meeting minutes from June
14, 2024.

Dr. Casuga pointed out an error on line 142, where ‘thought’ should be corrected to
‘though’.

Dr. Casuga called for public comment.
No public comment was offered.

Votes
3 ayes (Casuga, Cervantes, Rodgers), 0 noes

Agenda Item #5: Legislation from the 2025 Legislative Session: Review and
Possible Action

a) Legislative Proposals

1) 2025 Sunset Review Report

Mr. Burke presented this item verbally, summarizing the outcome of the recent Sunset
Review Hearing with the Senate Business, Professions and Economic Development
Committee and commenting on the upcoming steps.

Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

No public comment was offered.

b) Review of Bills for Review and Consideration for Action Position Recommendation to
the Board

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 18 of the meeting
materials.



90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133

1) SB 470 (Laird) Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act: teleconferencing.

Dr. Casuga called for Committee comment.

Dr. Cervantes expressed concerns about the safety of Board and Committee Members
if they were required to provide access to a publicly noticed location to members of the
public, even in instances where this was the Member’s personal address.

Dr. Casuga commented that there would continue to be options to meet in a more
secure public setting, and that the incidence of technical issues like internet connectivity
or audio/video coverage, or physical considerations like adequate seating and ADA-
Compliance could be lessened by using state facilities.

Mr. Pane commented that current law allows the majority of the Members to appear in
one central publicly noticed location while allowing the remaining Member(s) to appear
online without disclosing their location(s). He added that SB 470 does not change this,
but only removes the sunset date associated with it.

Dr. Cervantes moved to take a watch position.

This motion was not seconded and therefore did not carry.

Dr. Casuga commented that staff is recommending a position of supporting this bill.

It was (M)Rodgers(S)Casuga to recommend that the Board take a support position on
SB 470.

Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

Christi van Eyken of the Department of Consumer Affairs Legislative Affairs Office
commented that the bill had been amended and would now extend the sunset date to
January 1, 2030. She added that the sunset dates are therefore merely being extended,
not abolished.

No further public comment was offered.

Votes
2 ayes (Casuga, Rodgers), 1 no (Cervantes)

2) AB 677 (Solache) Professions and vocations: license examinations: interpreters.

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 36 of the meeting
materials.



134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176

Dr. Casuga called for Committee comment.
Dr. Cervantes asked about potential impacts of this bill on licensees.

Dr. Casuga commented that the bill would shift to the board the costs associated with
providing interpretive services to an applicant taking the examination.

Ms. Mancilla commented that staff had sought clarification in the bill about whether the
board would also be responsible for the costs associated with the applicant taking the
required Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL). If so, she added, then
regulatory changes would be necessary. She said that this bill had already been
amended once and could be amended again, so it was not clear what the operational
costs to the board might be.

Dr. Casuga commented that since the Board falls under Division Il, it is exempt under
this bill.

Mr. Burke commented that, given the recent amendments of this bill and the possibility
of future amendments, it made sense to watch the bill without taking a position of
support.

Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

No public comment was offered.

3) SB 641 (Ashby) Department of Consumer Affairs and Department of Real Estate:
states of emergency: waivers and exemptions.

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 51 of the meeting
materials.

Dr. Casuga asked how licensees were to prove they worked or resided within the
impacted zones covered by this bill.

Ms. Whitney commented that Executive Order N-15-25 provided a specific list of zip
codes that fell within its scope, and that staff would not otherwise seek proof of eligibility
to waivers or exemptions under this bill.

Dr. Cervantes asked whether there had been a fiscal impact to the board as a result of
these waivers and exemptions.

Ms. Whitney commented that there had been approximately twelve approved waivers.
She added that licensees who deferred their renewal fees now would end up paying two



177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220

years in a row. Licensees had the option of paying now on their regular renewal cycle, if
they so chose, rather than deferring payment for a year.

Mr. Burke commented that, despite the damage from the wildfires extending across a
wide range of zip codes, the fiscal impact to the board has not been tremendously
significant, in part because many licensees are not availing themselves of the deferral.

It was (M)Rodgers(S)Cervantes to recommend that the Board take a position of support
on SB 641.

Dr. Casuga called for public comment.
No public comment was offered.

Votes
3 ayes (Casuga, Cervantes, Rodgers), 0 noes

c) Bills with Active Positions Taken by the Board

1) AB 489 (Bonta) Health care professions: deceptive terms or letters: artificial
intelligence.

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on the item, starting on page 68 of the meeting
materials.

Dr. Casuga asked Mr. Burke to comment on the efforts staff made to bring amendments
to the authors of this bill.

Mr. Burke commented that staff originally took a position to support this bill if amended,
and that Assemblymember Bonta’s office had been very receptive to the language that
staff had introduced.

Dr. Casuga commented that she appreciated the addition of language referring to
reports and assessments, since this was a part of her own practice, and she wanted it
made clear when such products were being delivered by an unlicensed person using
artificial intelligence (Al) tools.

Dr. Rodgers asked how Enforcement staff would view complaints arising from the use
Al technology to impersonate a healthcare professional, especially when the potential
violation might have been committed by a company and not an individual.

Ms. Monterrubio commented that Enforcement staff were going to rely heavily on
assistance from Division of Investigation (DOI) to conduct interviews and collect
evidence to determine whether there has been a departure from the standards of care.



221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262

She added that staff would need to recruit Subject Matter Experts (SMEs) who
specialized in Al, but that staff would continue to process these cases the same way
they would process any complaint.

Dr. Casuga commented that since staff can only investigate complaints that are
submitted to the board, staff relied on all stakeholders to share what they see in the
wider world of psychology practice.

Ms. Monterrubio amplified Dr. Casuga’s comment and added that even if there was not
a clear violation, submitting a complaint allowed staff to perform due diligence and
investigate the case to be able to make a final determination.

Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

Dr. Elizabeth Winkelman of the California Psychological Association (CPA) thanked the
Board for its position to support this bill, if amended.

Dr. Marilyn Immoos of California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR)
commented that CDCR is dealing with Al issues as well, and is developing policies and
procedures around it. She asked for clarification as to how one might recognize when
material had been generated by Al.

Ms. Monterrubio commented that, since the topic of Al is still so new, and since
Enforcement staff are only starting to see cases centering on this technology, it was
hard to say how a consumer might identify materials produced using Al tools.

Doug Cort commented on whether the use of Al raised the question of liability. He
added that there should be guidelines for psychologists and practitioners that they might
communicate with their patients about the potential risks of using Al for therapy
exclusively, or in tandem with a licensed practitioner. He commented that for a patient to
rely on both kinds of service at the same time, there might arise a dual relationship
situation.

Dr. Courtney Knapp commented about the use of Al in her own practice, in particular
whether using Al-generated prompts to formulate notes fell under the current
discussion.

Dr. Casuga commented that this discussion centered on whether Al tools were being
used to impersonate a psychologist in providing therapy, an assessment, or a report,
and that Dr. Knapp’s use of such tools was not uncommon in the situation she
described in her own practice.



263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306

Dr. Cervantes commented that the Board might consider creating an ad hoc committee
to address the recent Al developments, and how these tools are finding their way into
different aspects of professional practice.

d) Watch Bills

7) SB 579 (Padilla) Mental health and artificial intelligence working group.

[This item was taken out of order]

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 131 of the meeting
materials.

Dr. Casuga asked which stakeholders would be considered for the SB 579 working
group.

Ms. Mancilla commented that stakeholders were not specified, outside of health
organizations and academic institutions.

Dr. Casuga called for Committee comment.

Dr. Cervantes commented further on her previous statement, adding that there could be
gaps in the sort of guidance available to licensees if this legislation passed, which could
be addressed in an ad hoc committee.

Mr. Burke commented that an ad hoc committee would be comprised of two members,
and as such would not be publicly noticed. He added that this Committee was not
empowered to create an ad hoc committee, but that the Board President could take
such a recommendation under advisement from this Committee.

Dr. Rodgers asked whether this discussion had taken place during the Board’s strategic
planning process, and if so, suggested that could provide a framework for moving
forward.

Dr. Casuga commented that this was the case, and it was either discussed under the
Enforcement or Legislation section of the strategic plan.

Dr. Cervantes asked whether a motion should be made to recommend that the Board
create an ad hoc committee as discussed.

Mr. Burke commented that he could have a conversation with President Tate about
whether this topic could be brought up on the May 2025 Board meeting agenda.

Mr. Pane confirmed Mr. Burke’s approach would be best.



307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350

Dr. Casuga commented that the Board should support legislation that provided more
information regarding the use of Al tools in the provision of mental health care.

Dr. Cervantes commented that she favored a watch position for SB 579.
Dr. Rodgers echoed Dr. Cervantes in favoring a watch position for this bill.

1) AB 81 (Ta) Veterans: mental health.

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 84 of the meeting
materials.

2) AB 257 (Flora) Specialty care network: telehealth and other virtual services

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 87 of the meeting
materials.

3) AB 277 (Alanis) Behavioral health centers, facilities, and programs: background
checks

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 103 of the meeting
materials.

4) AB 346 (Nguyen) In home support services: licensed healthcare professionals’
certification

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 112 of the meeting
materials.

6) SB 518 (Weber Pierson) Descendants of enslaved persons: reparations

[This item was taken out of order]

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 125 of the meeting
materials.

5) AB 742 (Elhawary) Licensing: applicants who are descendants of slaves.

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 120 of the meeting
materials.

8) AB 479 (Tangia) Criminal procedure: vacatur relief.




351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 136 of the meeting
materials.

9) AB 985 (Ahrens) Health care practitioners: titles: name tags?.

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this item, starting on page 151 of the meeting
materials.

Dr. Casuga called for Committee comments.

Dr. Cervantes asked if there were generally more issues arising in the field of practice
with people using the protected title “Dr.” that was causing more legislative activity to
address it.

Ms. Mancilla commented that the bill originally sought to address issues with the use of
that title in the field of nursing.

Dr. Casuga commented that the Board watches closely whenever the title of “Dr.” arises
in legislation, trying to head off any difficulties that might arise for its licensees if the
term is restricted.

No further Committee comment was offered.
Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

Tyler Rinde from California Psychological Association (CPA) commented that CPA asks
for a recommendation to the Board to adopt a support position on SB 579. He spoke to
Dr. Cervantes’ earlier question about the makeup of the stakeholder workgroup, stating
that while CPA did hope the Board would be represented in the workgroup, it was more
important that the workgroup move forward even without the Board’s direct participation.

Dr. Zyanya Mendoza echoed Mr. Rinde’s statements as well with those made by Drs.
Casuga and Cervantes regarding the membership of the workgroup, adding that she
suggested the Board submit an amendment to require the Board’s participation in the
workgroup.

No further public comments were offered.

Dr. Cervantes spoke in favor of a motion to recommend that the Board take a position to
support SB 579.

1 The name of this bill changed to “Anesthesiologist assistants” on March 24, 2025, after the agenda had
been posted for this meeting.



392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438

Dr. Casuga commented that a recommendation to adopt a position to support this bill if
amended was closer to the spirit of the discussion.

Dr. Rodgers concurred with Dr. Casuga, on the grounds that the workgroup should
certainly include a psychologist.

It was (M)Cervantes(S)Rodgers to make a recommendation to the Board to adopt a
support position on SB 579 if it is amended to include a psychologist in the workgroup.

Votes
3 ayes (Casuga, Cervantes, Rodgers), 0 noes

Agenda Item #6: Legislative Items for Future Meeting

Dr. Casuga suggested that AB 82 (Ward) be added for future discussion, as requested
by Dr. Trisha Wallis in an earlier public comment.

Dr. Casuga called for further Committee comment.
No further Committee comment was offered.

Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

No public comment was offered.

Agenda Item #7: Requlatory Update, Review, and Consideration of Additional
Changes

Ms. Mancilla provided the update on this informational item, starting on page 162 of the
meeting materials.

a) 16 CCR section 1395.2 — Disciplinary Guidelines and Uniform Standards Related to
Substance-Abusing Licensees

b) 16 CCR sections 1380.3, 1381, 1381.1, 1381.2, 1381.4, 1381.5, 1382, 1382.3,
1382.4, 1382.5, 1386, 1387, 1387.1, 1387.2, 1387.3, 1387.4, 1387.5, 1387.6, 1387.10,
1388, 1388.6, 1389, 1389.1, 1391, 1391.1, 1391.3, 1391.4, 1391.5, 1391.6, 1391.8,
1391.11, and 1391.12 — Pathways to Licensure

c) 16 CCR sections 1380.6, 1393, 1396, 1396.1, 1396.2, 1396.3, 1396.4, 1396.5, 1397,

1397.1, 1397.2, 1397.35, 1397.37, 1397.39, 1397.50, 1397.51, 1397.52, 1397.53,
1397.54, and 1397.55 - Enforcement Provisions

d) 16 CCR sections 1397.35, 1397.37, 1397.39, and 1937.40 — Corporations

e) 16 CCR sections 1381, 1387, 1387.10, 1388, 1388.6, 1389, and 1389.1 —
Implementation of AB 282




439

440 f) 16 CCR sections 1390 — 1390.14 — Research Psychoanalyst Regulation

441

442 g) 16 CCR section 1396.8 — Standards of Practice for Telehealth Services

443

444  Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

445

446  No public comment was offered.

447

448 Agenda Iltem #8: Recommendations for Agenda Items for Future Board Meetings
449

450 Dr. Casuga recommended that Dr. Rodgers lead a mindfulness exercise at the next
451 committee meeting.

452

453  Dr. Cervantes commented that, if an ad hoc committee is formed to investigate the
454  ways Al might be affecting the field of practice, it could be an information item at a
455  future meeting.

456

457  Dr. Casuga called for public comment.

458

459  Dr. Doug Cort requested that the Board advocate for providers being able to receive
460 reimbursement for telehealth from Medicare.

461

462 ADJOURNMENT

463

464  The meeting adjourned at 1:30 pm.
465

466  Mr. Polk commented that attendance at the meeting provided 6 hours of CPD credit
467 under Category 1.

468

469






Accessibility Report





		Filename: 

		20250411_minutes.pdf









		Report created by: 

		Klara Flanagan, klara.flanagan@dca.ca.gov



		Organization: 

		







 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]



Summary



The checker found no problems in this document.





		Needs manual check: 2



		Passed manually: 0



		Failed manually: 0



		Skipped: 0



		Passed: 30



		Failed: 0







Detailed Report





		Document





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set



		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF



		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF



		Logical Reading Order		Needs manual check		Document structure provides a logical reading order



		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified



		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar



		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents



		Color contrast		Needs manual check		Document has appropriate color contrast



		Page Content





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged



		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged



		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order



		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided



		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged



		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker



		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts



		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses



		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive



		Forms





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged



		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description



		Alternate Text





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text



		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read



		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content



		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation



		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text



		Tables





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot



		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR



		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers



		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column



		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary



		Lists





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L



		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI



		Headings





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting










Back to Top

